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The Seminary Square Historic District is located in Covington, Kentucky, 
the state's northern-most city. Situated directly across the Ohio River 
from Cincinnati, Ohio, Covington has retained at small community atmosphere, 
despite its slie- (population 52,000)," and has become home for many affluent person:

Located near the central part of town, the Seminary Square Historic District 
is two and one-half blocks wide and five blocks long, containing approxi­ 
mately eighteen acres. The area is bounded on the east by railroad tracks; 
on the south by Twelfth Street; on the north by Ninth Street; and on the 
west by the rear property lines'of'the structures on the west side of 
Banklick.l Approximately one hundred and thirty buildings are contained 
within the district, the majority of which are residential, with a couple 
of corner grocery businesses dotting the area. Although the district 
appears to have a large number of rental units, the tendancy to owner 
occupied dwellings is growing.

Most of the structures are oriented to the street with narrow lots and shallow 
setbacks, emphasized by elaborate iron fences. The styles and construction 
dates range from early nineteenth to early twentieth century with the heaviest 
concentration being nineteenth century townhouses and multiple family dwellings.

Only one building of note, the Alfred Sanford house, dates to the early 1800s 
and is probably the oldest structure in the district. Although Victorianized 
in the 1880s, the original Federal design is still evident in the five-bay 
symmetrical facade and square piered portico. Due to fire damage the building 
was altered by the addition of a mansard roof and octagonal bay, along with 
Victorian hoodmolds. Unlike the shallow frontage of most of the later structures, 
the Sanford house is not oriented to the street, but is buffered by a sizeable 
yard.

Styles of the mid 1800s .were characterized by tail, boxy, vertically emphasizes 
townhouses built in "shotgun" 2 Or side passage plans. Most are of brick 
with stone trim consisting of elaborate hoodmolds and cornices. If no 
porticos grace the flat facade, elaborate iron fences make up for the lack. 
If a porch or portico is present, it is a confectioner's delight in iron , 
consistion of iacy delicate patterns. vJLthin the area, illustrations range 
from very simple structures, with flat lintels and bracketed cornices, to the 
more elaborate houses of the affluent families. Three exceptional houses 
which deserve special mention include: the John Fisk house, the W. E. 
Ashbrooke house , and the Harriet Albro house. All the structures have 
the townhouse shape and plan, but each displays distinct individuality.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Established in 1840, the Western Baptist Theological Institute was one of the 
first schools of its kind established by Baptists in Kentucky. The area 
surrounding the seminary, which became home for the school faculty, evolved into 
an affluent residential neighborhood. This district has retained its nineteenth 
century character, and a large percentage of the architecturally significant 
structures remain.

Situated in the northernmost point of Kentucky, Covington was established as part 
of Campbell County in 1815. Kenton County was not formed until 1840, exactly one 
week before the Kentucky legislature passed the act for the establishment of 
Western Baptist Theological Institute.

The founding of Baptist colleges and seminaries in Kentucky was delayed due to early 
prejudices within the denomination against formal education of its ministers. 
The Great Revival of 1800 and Alexander Campbell both placed much emphasis on 
divine inspiration and emotion for clerical training. Although this issue 
caused differences in the early part of the nineteenth century among the Baptists, 
it became less a devisive factor with the passage of time.

With the growth of the denomination and the differences over slavery evident; 
the Western Baptist Association was formed in an attempt to bring together those states 
that felt a common need to de-emphasize the issue of slavery. The association .1 
included all Baptists west of the Alleghenies and on both sides of the Ohio. In 
1834, the Western Baptist Education Association was formed and the following 
resolution adopted "that we consider the education of ministers highly important 
as a means of enabling them to exhibit appropriately and forcibly, the truths of 
the gospel." (James p. 39). A 1931 list of schools established in the nineteenth 
century shows that of sixty-four schools, thirty-six were Baptist sponsored. Of 
this number only four institutions of college level now remain. They include 
Georgetown College, Cumberland College, Campbellsville College and Bethel 
College (McVey p. 91). The Western Baptist Theological Institute was established 
solely for the purpose of educating young ministers. Due to the town's central 
location, Covington was the most obvious location for the school. Buildings were 
purchased in 1835, an executive committee was chosen and a charter was granted from 
the Kentucky legislature in 1840.

From the beginning, the Baptist leaders in Kentucky felt alienated from the institute. 
The majority of the executive committee and most of the faculty and students were 
from the North. Although not radically abolitionist, the school had anti-slavery 
leanings, which further irritated the Kentucky Baptists. Even before the official 
opening of the school in 1845, the Kentucky Baptists resolved that the institute would 
not receive their support. This decision was made the same year the Southern Baptist
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Constructed in the late 1860s, the Ashbrooke house is the most imposing of the 
three structures. Three stories in height, it occupies a large, highly visible, 
corner lot on Russell Street and Robbins Avenue. A high stone foundation and 
stone entrance steps give the facade much emphasis. The stonework is echoed in 
the label molds and enriched overdoor. To provide variation from the "shotgun" 
plan, a semi-octagonal bay projects from the southeast corner of the structure.

J^-'  l 
Situated on the opposite corner is the James Fisk house, which has a construction
date of 1865. The exceptionally well crafted stone trim is the most noteworthy 
architectural detail in this Italianate structure. Gothic Revival colonettes 
below a segmental arch with a keystone grace the main entrance element. This 
arch and keystone motif is echoed in the deeply bracketed cornice which has 
a panelled soffit.

Similar in scale to the Fisk house is the Harriett Albro house, built in 1874. 
Also an Italianate townhouse, the flat facade is relieved by a one-story, semi- 
octagonal center bay with a dentillated and bracketed cornice. The stone entrance 
element is of exceptional quality with a broken and curved pediment and incising 
to either side of the opening. Superior workmanship is exhibited in the interior 
wood and plasterwork of the Albro house. Of special note is the plaster ceiling 
medallion in the parlor. It contains icanthus leaves encircled by an egg and 
dart design. The mantlepiece, of mahogany and burled maple, employs a few Gothic 
details and is capped by a mirrored overmantie.

Two other mid-nineteenth century structures of particular note are the Immanuel 
Methodist Episcopal Church built in 1869, and St. Paul's Evangelical Church, 
constructed around 1867. Both churches abut the street on two sides, making 
each highly visible within the area. Each gable-end structure boasts round 
arched windows and simple cornice detail and a bell tower. However, in each 
case the tower has been truncated. St. Paul's is still retained by a congre­ 
gation and contains some attractive stained glass windows. Immanuel, on the 
other hand, has been abandoned and the windows removed.

The late 1800s were characterized by more electicism and a retreat from more 
conservative tastes. Second Empire styles, many of which featured the mansard 
roof, became popular. Also a greater number of multiple family dwellings were 
being constructed. Both trends are evidenced in the number of structures in this 
style and form within the Russell Street area. Examples include three complexes 
located on 1018-1024, 1030-1032, and 1034-1036 Russell Street all are of brick 
construction, with highly decorative bargeboarding, have mansard roof forms with 
colored tiles, and gables and dormers. Other buildings which evidence the French 
mansard influence are 108 West Eleventh Street, built in 1883; and the Alfred 
Sanford house which was remodelled in 1895.
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Very few structures were built in this area after the first part of the 
twentieth century. Only two structures, a 1950s gas station and a church built 
in the 1960s, are intrusive. The remaining intrusions consist of empty lots due 
to burned or razed structures located within the nominated area.2 
With the exception of these intrusions, the district can be said to possess an 
architectural cohesiveness as well as a strong sense of neighborhood. A good 
percentage of the buildings are currently being rehabilitated with the help of 
a restoration corporation that has been formed.

The Russell Street residential area is bounded on the north and east by commercial 
districts. On the south side after Twelfth Street, more twentieth century residences 
are evident. The western boundary divides the seminary square residences from 
a separate distinct neighborhood known as Old Town.

The original Seminary Square was bounded by Robbins Avenue on the north, 
Eleventh Street on the south, Madison on the east, and Russell Street on the 
west. The present district sits in the southwest corner of the older area,

2 The open spaces are located at 904, 1003, 1011, 1034, 1035, 1037 Banklick 
Street. Also razed were two structures on Chesapeake between Robbins and Eleventh 
Streets, two structures at the northwest corner of Chesapeake and Tenth Streets, 
and one structure on the west side of Chesapeake, between Ninth and Tenth Streets.
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Convention was organized in Georgia. By 1847 there were rumors that the Ohio 
trustees were considering moving the institute across the river to Cincinnati. 
The whole situation resulted in open opposition between Kentucky Baptists and the 
Northern trustees of the school.

The differences finally broke the institution, and in 1855, the trustees deemed it 
wise to sell the property and divide the proceeds equally between Northern and 
Southern interests. The South's portion fell to Georgetown College, and Fremont 
Theological Institue in Ohio received the balance (Ware, pp. 48-49). The school's 
charter was officially revoked in 1890. The buildings connected with the school 
were sold and the Alfred Sanford house is the only extant structure directly connected 
with the institute.* After the institute was dissolved, the structure was used in 
the 1890s as Miss Bristow's Boarding and Day School for young ladies.

Up to this time, the most fashionable place to live in Covington had been the 
Riverside Drive area (listed on the National Register November 23, 1971). However, 
living that close to the river had some drawbacks, such as flooding, and a high 
incidence of cholera and yellow fever. Because the Seminary Square area had the 
highest elevation in the city, many residents wisely built their new homes here. 
A sense of neighborhood was evident, established by those connected with the school, 2 
added to its appeal, and the area around Russell Street soon became a prosperous 
and populous residential district. During the mid-to-late nineteenth century, 
several affluent and well-known families called Russell Street home. Noted 
businessmen, politicians and even a nationally known painter, resided here.

General Thomas Sanford, who came to Covington from Virginia in 1792, was one °f fen ton 
County's early prominent political figures. He was in the Kentucky 
legislature, was a representative in Congress, and helped form Kentucky's second 
constitution. His son, Alfred Sanford, built the house at 1026 Russell Street 
(Seminary president's home) on his father's land c. 1820s. Alfred also served 
Kenton County as a member of the Kentucky legislatures (Collins p.440).

*
To the north of the Sanford home, at 1010 Russell, sits the house of William E. 
Ashbrooke, who was a stockyard owner and local politician. Ashbrooke served five 
terms on Covington 1 s city council and as Kenton County sheriff from 1858-1862.

The Fisk house at 1017 Russell Street belonged to one of Covington's most prominent 
families. It is speculated that the house was built by John F. Fisk, Sr., in 1865. 
Born in New York in 1815, he settled in Covington in the 1850s. Fisk represented 
Kenton County in the state senate from 1857-1865, and was elected speaker on two 
separate occasions. He also served as acting lieutenant governor in 1862. In 
addition to his political career, John Fisk was involved in private business interests
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in Covington as well. He was elected an officer of the Covington and Cincinnati 
Bridge Company, and was on the Board of Directors of the First National Bank and 
the Covington Gas and Light Company. In 1877 he served as president of the Odd 
Fellows Hall Association.

John F. Fisk, Sr. married in 1842 and fathered seven children, two of whom, Charles 
and John Fisk, Jr., practiced law. This house was later owned by his son Charles.

At 106 West Eleventh Street stands the house of Laban J. Bradford. Although not 
as widely known as some other figures in the district, he was important in his own 
right. Laban Bradford was born in Bracken County, Kentucky but in 1874 purchased 
the house on Eleventh Street and made Covington his home. Bradford established 
a tobacco fair in Louisivlle in 1858 and served as president for seven years. 
Governor Bramlette apppointed him president of the board of visitors to the State 
University of Lexington and later as one of the trustees of the Agricultural and 
Mechanical College at Lexington.--' For a number of years he was president of the 
National Tobacco Association.

Another well-known figure that resided in the Seminary Square area was Henry F. 
Farney (1847-1916), a painter who immigrated from Alsace in 1853. His career 
was launched with the appearance in various publications of his illustrations of 
Jefferson Davis and of the National Turn Verin Covention in Cincinnati in Harpers 
Weekly in 1865. One year later, at the age of nineteen, he went to work for Harpers. 
Some of his better known illustrations appeared in the McGuffey Readers. Farney was 
the series' leading illustrator, contributing seventy-six of three hundred enumerated 
in one study. Henry Farney lived in Covington at 1029-1031 Banklick Street from 
1890 until his death in 1916. One of his best known works, "The Song of the Talking 
Wire," was painted here in 1904.

Seminary Square is made up of a variation of styles and structures. However, there 
is a predominance of late nineteenth century townhouses, as well as containing 
several Victorian complexes. These structures have been little changed since 
construction. Some of the most visible and well-designed examples of the townhouses 
in the district include the Laban J. Bradford house, the Harriett Albro house, and 
the William E. Ashbrooke house. All three are of brick construction with well- 
designed stone trim. They are all shotgun dwellings and, with the exception of 
the Bradford house, have no portico. The lacy ironwork on the Bradford house is 
just one of many exceptional ironwork designs in the district.

Although not a residence, the three-story grocery building located on the southwest 
corner of Eleventh and Russell is a key structure in the district. The entrance is 
situated directly at the corner and is capped by semi-circular balconies on the
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two floors above. Each contains a paneled overhead and wrought iron railing. The 
store's interior is simple, with an elaborate pressed tin ceiling as the only 
decorative element. The cornice element is very deep and contains a paneled soffit

Other buildings of note are the Victorian multiple family complexes. At the south­ 
west corner of Russell and Robbins streets is the most imposing edifice of this 
type. Constructed of brick with painted wooden trim this structure is a highly 
colorful addition to the district.

The Seminary Square Historic District still retains most of its original historical 
and architectural integrity, recognized on February 19, 1980 by its designation by 
the city of Covington as a local historic district.

It had been purchased in 1835 for use as the president's home. The main 
administration building was used as St. Elizabeth's Hospital until 1916 when it 
was razed.

o 
A structure located at the northeast corner of Eleventh and Russell, (now

the site of a gas station) was the home of two faculty members.

University of Kentucky was known originally as the Agricultural and 
Mechanical College.
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then turns south (approx. 775 feet); the boundary line turns west along the rear 
property lines of the buildings that front on Eleventh Street (approximately 480 feet) 
to the alley between Banklick and Russell streets; the line turns south along the 
west side of the alley (approx. 350 feet) to the north side of Twefth Street; it 
then turns west (approximately 300 feet) to the rear property line of the structure 
at the northwest corner of Banklick and Russell streets. The boundary line then 
turns north (approximately 1400 feet) along the rear property lines of all the 
structures which front on Banklick Street to the intersection with Ninth Street. 
The line then turns south approximately 80 feet, then west along the south side of 
Ninth Street approximately 350 feet to its beginning point.
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ADDENDUM 

Verbal Boundary Description:

Beginning at a point on the south side of Ninth Street, at the curb 
line, 175' east of the southeast corner of Ninth and Russell; the line 
travels south along the rear property lines of the buildings on the east 
side of Russell Street, about 125'; the line turns east along the rear 
property lines of the buildings on the north side of Tenth Street, to 
the west side of Chesapeake, about 225'; the line travels south along the 
curb line of the west side of Chesapeake Street, to the curb line of 
the south side of 10th Street, about 160'; it then goes
east about 50'; the line turns south along the west property line of the 
C & 0 Railroad bed, about 690' to a point at the rear property lines 
of the buildings on the south side of Eleventh Street; the line turns 
west and travels along the rear property lines of the buildings on the 
south side of Eleventh Street, about 290'; north 25'; west 100' along 
the south property line, extending across Russell Street to the west 
side, to a point at the curb line, 115' from the southwest corner of 
Russell and Eleventh Streets. The line goes north along the west side 
of Russell 50'; turns west along the rear property lines of the buildings 
on the south side of Eleventh Street; south along the east property line, 
25'; west 50'; to a point on the east side of the alley between Banklick 
and Russell; the line goes south 350' along the east curb line of the 
alley, to a point on the curb where the east side of the alley, and the 
north side of Twelfth Street meet. The line turns west along the curb 
on the north side of Twelfth Street, 300' to the rear of the property on 
the west side of Banklick. The line goes north, 400' along the rear 
property lines of the buildings on the west side of Banklick; west 50', 
north 100', east 75'; the line turns north for 390' along the rear 
property lines of the buildings on the west side of Banklick, between 
Berry and Robbins Streets; east 25' on the curb line of the south side 
of Robbins; north 325' along the rear property lines of the buildings 
on the west side of Banklick; west 75'; north 100'; east 100'; the line 
continues north 125' to a point at the northwest corner of the last 
property facing on Banklick. The line travels east along the north 
side of the property 60', to a point on the curb on the west side of 
Banklick. The line goes south along the curb of the west side of 
Banklick, 60'; then turns east and runs along the curb line of the 
south side of Ninth Street, 325' to the point of origin.
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